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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
Plaintiffssubmit thisMemorandumof L aw in Oppositionto defendants’ motionsto dismiss.
For purposes of amotion to dismiss, theallegations in the complaint are assumed to be true and all
contravening assertions are deemed to be false. Nat'| Metropolitan Bank v. U.S, 323 U.S. 454
(1945), Madonna v. U.S, 878 F. 2d 62 (2d Cir. 1989). For afull recitation of the facts governing

this action to date, the Court is respedfully refered to the complant.

POINT |

SUBSECTIONS 2020(e)(2)(B)iii), (€)(3) AND (€)(9) OF THE
FOOD STAMP ACT CREATE INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS
ENFORCEABLE UNDER 42 U.S.C. §1983.

City defendants' contention that the Food Stamp Act does not confer enforceable rights on
plaintiffsiswrong. Each of the statutory and regulatory provisions a issue in this action meet the
three-prong test for federa court enforceability set forth by the Supreme Court in Blessing v.
Freestone, 520 U.S. 329 (1997), and reaffirmed in Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273 (2002).
City defendant’ s argument, at heart, is premised on the mistaken notion that Gonzaga represents a
radical sea-changeinfederal jurisprudence, limiting greatlywhen afederal statuteand implementing
regulations may be enforced. No such sea-change occurred.

As the Supreme Court made clear, the test for determining whether a federal statute and

implementing regulations are enforceable has not changed. Gonzaga clearly articulates the

difference between those statutes giving right to a section1983 claim and those that do not. Citing

! Plaintiffs do not dispute that the Eleventh Amendment barsrelief claims against the state
defendant to enforce compliance with state law.
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specificallytoitsdecisionsin Wright v. Roanoke Redev. Hous. Auth., 479 U.S. 418 (1987), and Suter
v. Artist M., 503 U.S. 347 (1992), as well asBlessing, the Court stated the question is whether the
statute confers, “a mandatory [benefit] focusing on the individual.” Gonzaga at 280.

The Gonzaga Court restates the Blessing test, which provides that:

To determine whethe aprivateright of action exists under afederal
statute, a plaintiff must show that the statute is. (1) ‘intended to
benefit' the plaintiff seeking to enforceit; (2) a'binding obligation on
thegovernmental unit,’ rather than 'merely acongressional preference
for a certain kind of conduct’; and (3) not so 'vague and amorphous
as to be 'beyond the competence of the judiciary to enforce.’

Blessing, 520 U.S. at 340.

The Gonzaga Court then simply confirms that Blessing and other precedent do not “permit
anything short of an unambiguously conferred right to support a cause of action brought under 8
1983.” Gonzaga, 536 U.S. at 283. See Sabree v. Richman, 367 F.3d 180, 183-94 (3d Cir. 2004)
(holding that “. . . the [Gongaza court] did not abandon the [Blessing] test . . .” and reasoning that
provisions of the Medicaid Act meet the Blessing test); Rolland v. Romney, 318 F.3d 42, 53-56 (1st
Cir. 2003)(analyzing provisions of Nursing Home Reform Amendments under Blessing test and
holding that the provisionscreate rightsenforceable under 8 1983); Kappsv. Wing, 283 F. Supp. 2d
866, 880 (E.D.N.Y. 2003)(holding that provisionsof theHeat Energy AssistanceProgram (“HEAP”)
statute met the Blessing test and that these provisions were judicially enforceable.); Arrington v.

Fuller, 237 F. Supp. 2d 1307, 1313-15 (M.D. Ala. 2002).

In examining another comprehensive federal benefit program intended to aid the nation’s
neediest families, the Medicaid Act, the Second Circuit held that 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396r-6(a) is
enforceable under § 1983. See Rabin v. Wilson-Coker, 362 F.3d 190, 201 (2d Cir. 2004). Section
1396r-6(a) provides that “ each State plan approved under this sub-chapter must provide that each
familywhichwasrecdaving[“AFDC"] inat least 3 of the 6 monthsimmediately preceding themonth

inwhich such family becomesineligiblefor aid, because of . . . incomefrom employment. . . remain



eligiblefor assistance under the plan . . . during the immediately succeeding 6 month period.” The
Rabin court, in analyzing whether an enforceabl e right existed, examined the statutory provision’s
“language, the context in which the language is usad, and the broader context of the statute as a
whole.”” Rabin, 362 F.3d at 196 (quoting Freir v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 303 F.3d 176, 197 (2d
Cir. 2002), cert denied, 538 U.S. 998 (2003)). Further, in evaluating whether theMedicaid provision
had “rights-cregting” language, the Rabin court examined whether the text of the Medicaid
provisionis‘phrased in terms of the persons benefitted,” (quoting Cannon v. Univ. of Chicago, 441
U.S. 677, 692 n.13 (1979)), and held that the language of § 1396r-6 “focuses much more directly
than doesthe[Family Educational rightsand Privacy Act] provisionontheindividual’ sentitlement.”

Rabin, 362 F.3d at 201.

Rabinrejected the defendant’ sargument that thewording of 81396r-6(a), which requiresthat
the State Plan provide eligible applicants with aid rather than directly requiring that dl eligible
individuals receive assistance, means that “Congress focused on the aggregate and the
responsibilities of various administrative actors rather than the rights of recipients.” Id. at 201-02.
The Rabin court further regjected defendant’ s argument by pointing to 8 1320a-2, another provision
of theMedicaid Act which providesthat “[i]n an action brought to enforce aprovision of thischapter
[which includes the Medicaid statutes], such provision is not to be deemed unenforceable because
of itsinclusion in asedion of thischapter requiring a State plan or specifyingthe required contents
of a State plan.” 1d. at 202.2

2 Conseguently, City defendant’s argumert that, since the statutory provisions of the Act
begin with the words “the State agency shal,” Congress meant to refer “only to State agency
requirementsthat the States must adhere to inorder to receivefunding” (City Mem. at 14) iswrong.
The Food Stamp Act includes § 2020(e)(10), aprovision, similar to 8 1320a-2 of the Medicaid Act,
which specifies that stete agencies shall provide “for the granting of a fair hearing and a prompt
determination thereafter to any household aggrieved by the action of the state agency under any
provision of itsplan of operation.” 7 U.S.C. 8§ 2020(e)(10) (emphasisadded). Sincethe Act contains
this provision that grants individual households the right to request a hearing to enforce any
provision in the Act, regardless of whether any language about the “state plan” precedes it, City
defendant’ s agument fails.



Theprovisionsof the Food Stamp Act hereareasclearly focused on theindividual household
that applies for benefits as are the provisions of the Medicaid Act at issue in Rabin. Both the Food
Stampand Medicaid Actscontain numerous provisionsthat providespecificrelief toaspedfic class
of beneficiaries Sections 2020(e)(3) and (9) of the Food Stamp Act provide time frames within
which eligible households must receive food stamps just as 81396a(a)(8) of the Medicaid Act
providesthat Medicaid“shall be furnished with reasonald e promptnessto al eligible individuals.”
Given the similarities of both statutes, the holding and reasoning of Rabin are applicable here, and

the Food Stamp Act should be found enforceable.

A. TheFood Stamp Ad Provisionsin ThisAction Satisfy the Blessingand GonzagarT ests.

1. The Food Stamp Act Provisionsin This Action Are Intended to Benefit Food
Stamp Applicants.

City defendant’s contention that the Food Stamp Act (“Act”) has an “aggregate focus”
(Memorandum of Law In Support of City Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss (“City Mem.”) at 14) is
wrong. Rather, the Food Stamp Act establishes very specific rights for individual households

applying for food stamps and for eligible households to receive food stampsin atimely manner.

Twice before in this Circuit, using a Blessing analysis, Courts have found subsections
2020(e)(2)(B)(iii), 2020(€)(3) and 2020(e)(9) of the Food Stamp Act,? the provisions of the Food

Stamp Act at issue in Williston, to confer enforceablerights; they are clear, specific, unambiguous

? Section 2020(e)(3) mandates defendants to provide food stamps to eligible households
within thirty days of application: [T]he State agency shall thereafter promptly determine the
eligibility of each applicant household . . . so asto complete certification of and provide an
dlotment retroactive to the peri od of gpplication to any digibl e househol d not later than thirty
following itsfiling of an application.” Section 2020(e)(9) directs defendants to provide expedited
food stamps to eligible households within seven days of application. Section 2020(e)(2)(B)(iii)
directsdefendantsto allow applicant households to apply immediately for food stampsupon initial
contact with afood stamp office: “[ T]he State agency shdl permit an applicant household to apply
to participatein the program on the same day that the household first contacts a food stamp office
during office hours.”



and mandatory, and thereforeintended to benefit the applicant. In Reynoldsv. Giuliani, the Court
held that § 2020(€)(2)(B), (e)(3) and (€)(9), the exact same provisions of the FSA involved here, as
well as provisions of the Medicaid Act, create rights enforceable under § 1983. Reynolds|, 35 F.
Supp. 2d at 340-41.* Applying the Blessing test, Reynolds found that Congress “undoubtedly
intended to benefit individuals such asthe plaintiffs’ and held that the Food Stamp Act provisions
imposed unambiguous obligations on State agencies. Id.; seealso Reynoldslll, 118 F. Supp. 2d at
383 (finding provisions of the Food Stamp and Medicaid Acts enforceable under § 1983).

Similarly, in Roberson v. Giuliani, the court held that provisions of the Food Stamps Act at
issue in this action, including § 2020(e)(2)(B) (application upon initial contact with food stamp
office) and (e)(9) (mandating a sevenday timeframefor emergency food stamps), were enforceable
under 8 1983. Roberson v. Giuliani, 2000 WL 760300, at *11. The Roberson court applied the
Blessing test and found “[t]hat these provisions of the Food Stamp Act were enacted by Congress
in order to protect the intended red pients of food stampsisnot open to seriousdoubt. Furthermore,

these provisions impose unambiguous obligations on State agencies.”1d.”

2. TheFood Stamp Ad I mposesaBinding Obligation on the Defendantsand Does
Not Merely Express a Preference.

The Food Stamp Act imposes specific and mandatory obligations on the defendants For

example, inframing the duty to to allow applicant househol dsto apply immediately for food stamps

* There arethreetotal decisionsin Reynolds. See Reynoldsv. Giuliani, 35 F. Supp. 2d 331
(S.D.N.Y. 1999); (“Reynolds 1”); Reynolds v. Giuliani, 43 F. Supp. 2d 492 (S.D.N.Y.
1999)(“ Reynoldsll”); Reynoldsv. Giuliani, 118 F. Supp. 2d 352 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (“Reynolds|11™).

®> Pre-Gonzaga cases utilizing a Blessing-type analysis have found these same provisions
enforceable. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Pingree, 821 F.2d 1526, 1531 (11th Cir. 1987) (holding that
plaintiff is entitled to pursue § 1983 action for redress of violation of her right to expedited food
stamps); Victorianv. Miller, 813 F. 2d 718, 723-24 (5th Cir. 1987) (en banc) (holding that applicants
for expedited food stamps could bring 8 1983 action to enforce state compliance with Act’s
requirements); Pa. Food Merchants Assoc. v. Houston, 999 F. Supp. 611, 619-20 (M.D. Pa. 1998)
(holding that 7 U.S.C. § 2016(g)(2) is enforceable under § 1983).
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upon initial contact with a food stamp office, 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(2)(B)(iii) makes clear that
defendant “shall permit an applicant household to apply to participate in the program on the same
day that the householdfirst contacts a food stamp office during office hours.” (Emphasis added.)
Similarly, if the householdis eligible, defendants must “ provide an allotment retroactiveto
the period of application to any eligible household not later than thirty days following its filing of
an application.” 1d. § 2020(e)(3). Here, Congress could have chosen to suggest that States provide
assistance to those found eligble within areasonabletime. Instead, concerned that the truly needy
not go hungry, Congress mandated not only tha defendants provide food stamps to digible
households, but that they do so within the brief span of thirty days from the dae of application.
Congressional intent to specifically direct the states to meet the needs of persons for whom even
thirty daysistoo long is expressed in 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(9), which directs defendants to provide
expedited food stamps to eligible households within seven days after the date of application.?

In discussing these same sections, the Reynolds court observed that “[h]ere, plaintiffs have
identified several specific provisions of the Food Stamp A ct which Congress undoubtedly intended
to benefit individuals such as the plaintiffs, and which impose unambiguous obligations on
participating State agencies.” Reynolds|, 35F. Supp. 2d at 340 - 41. Similarly, the Rober son court
noted “[t]hat these provisions of the Food Stamp Act were enacted by Congressin order to protect
theintended recipients of food stampsis not open to serious doubt. Further, these provisionsimpose
unambiguous obligations on participating State agencies. Roberson, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7965,
* 35, see also Meachemv. Wing, 77 F. Supp. 2d 431, 440 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).

® [T]he State Agency shall: (A) provide coupons no later than 7 days after the date of
application to any household which—(i)(I) hasgrossincome that i sless than $150 per month; or (11)
is a destitute migrant or a seasona farm worker household in accordance with the regulations
governing such households in effect July 1,1982; and (ii) has liquid resources that do not exceed
$100; (B) provide couponsno later than 7 days after the date of application to any household that
has a combined gross income and liquid resources that is less than the monthly rent, or mortgage,
and utilities of the household; . . . .



3. The Food Stamp Provisionsin This Case Are Neither Vaguenor Amor phous.

Twice before in this district the Food Stamp Act provisionsat issue in this case have been
found to be specific and enforceable. See Reynolds I, 35 F. Supp. 2d at 340 - 41; Roberson, 2000
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7965, * 35. The plain language of the statutes aids this Court in identifying the
defendants’ duty and leavesno room for doubt asto the specificobligationsto be enforced. Nothing
could be clearer than to speak in termsof actual time frames measured by days; that is exactly what
the Food Stamp Act does - it tells the defendants that applications must be made available on the
same day as the applicant tries to apply; emergenciesmust be met in no more than seven days; and
food stamps must be provided to eligible households within thirty days. 7 U.S.C. 88
2020(e)(2)(B)(iii); (€)(3), and (€)(9).

4. The Food Stamp Act Does Not Contains the Type of Individual Enfor cement
M echanism that Precludes Enforcement of Existence of Individual Rights.

Gonzaga observes that “[T]he State may rebut [a] presumption [of enforceable rights] by
showing that Congress “ specifically foreclosed a remedy under § 1983.” The State's burden is to
demonstratethat Congress shut the door to private enforcement either expressly, through “ spedfic
evidencefromthe statuteitself, or impliedly, by creating a comprehensive enforcement schemethat
is incompatible with individual enforcement under 88 1983, Gonzaga, 536 U.S. at 285, n. 4
(citations omitted.)’

City defendant’ s reliance on two district court decisions from other Circuits, Community

Organizations, 269 F. Supp.2d at 345-46, and Almendares, 2002 WL 31730963, at *5, for the

" Without explicitly reaching the issue in Gonzaga, the Court observed that the remedial
schemecreated by Congressunder FERPA anticipated anational centralized officeto addressFERPa
violations. AsGonzaga noted, thisstandsin stark contrast to the decentralized enforcement scheme
contemplated in “Wright, 479 U.S. at 426 (‘Congress aim was to provide a decentralized . . .
administrative process.’)” 536 U.S. at 325. The Food Stamp Act contains no such controlling
national centralized enforcement sheme.



proposition that Congress' s designation of the Secretary of Agriculture to handle violations of the
Food Stamp Act under 8 2020(g) indicates that Congress did not intend to grant any individually
enforceablerights, City Mem. at 12, 14-16, must fail for threereasons. First, the Food Stamp Act’s
provision of the individualized administrative scheme demonstrates Congressional intent to create
an enforceableright. The Food Stamp Act requires that state agencies provide “for the granting of
afair hearing and aprompt determination thereafter to any household aggrieved by the action of the
state agency under any provision of its plan of operation.” 7 U.S.C.82020(e)(10). Thisfair hearing
provision is exactly the kind of individualized administrative remedy that constitutes evidence of
Congressional intent to create an enforceable right. Sabree, 367 F.3d at180, Kapps, 283 F. Supp.
2d at 866. In Sabree and Kapps, the courts held that the existence of afair hearing provisionin a

statute is not an enforcement scheme comprehensive enough to preclude action under 1983.

Second, Almendares acknowledged that “[t]he administrative scheme is only evidence of
Congress' intent not to create an individually enforceable private right. Theadministrative scheme
in the Food Stamp Act is not the type of remedial scheme sufficiently comprehensive to supplant a

1983 claim.” 2002 WL 31730963, at *5 n.4.

Third, post-Gonzaga, humerous courts have held that Congress's establishment of an
enforcement mechanism in a statute does not preclude the existence of rights that are enforceable
under § 1983. In Sabree, 367 F.3d at 192, observing that the Medicaid Act lacked provisions
explicitly precluding individua actions, the Third Circuit found that “[t]he burden to demonstrate
that Congress has explicitly withdrawn the remedy is on defendant,” and that a court should not
“lightly concludethat Congressintended to precludereliance on 8§ 1983 asaremedy” for deprivation
of aconferred right. 1d. (quoting Golden Sate Transit Corp. v. City of Los Angeles, 493 U.S. 103,
107 (1989)) (citations omitted). Looking at the Medicaid Act, which has afair hearing provision
similar to that in the Food Stamp Act, the Sabree court found that the Medicaid Act did not have

comprehensive enforcement mechanisms intended to preclude an enforceable right and held “that



[if] Congress provides aremedy for itself for non-compliance], it] does not necessarily preclude a

coherent and coexisting intent to createan enforceable right in individual beneficiaries.” 1d. at 193.

In another post-Gonzaga case, Kappsv. Wing, the district court examined whether42 U.S.C.
8 8624(b)(5) and (13) of the HEAP statute contain rights that are enforcegble under § 1983. Kapps,
283 F. Supp. 2d at 866. The Kapps court examined the language of the involved provisions that
directedthestateto providetimely issuance of heating assistanceto gpecificlow-incomeindividuals,
8 8624(b)(5), and directs the state to provide fair hearings for individuals to compel timely
processing, 8 8624(b)(13), and foundthat the provisionshad “ rights-creating” language. Kapps, 283
F.Supp 2d at 880. In addition, the court held that that the HEAP statute, which hasfair hearing and
funding withdrawal provisions, did not have a sufficiently comprehensive enforcement scheme so
to preclude action under § 1983. “Courtsin this[Second] circuit havefound aprivateright of action
where . . . the relevant federal statute contains a funding withdrawal provision.” 1d. 2d at 880.
Accordingly, if the these HEAP provisions are enforceabl e, the Food Stamp Act provisions are no

less so.

B. City Defendant’s Citations Do Not Compel a Conclusion That theFood Stamp Act Is
Unenfor ceable.

City defendant’ sreliance on Gonzaga, Taylor v. Vermont Dep’t of Educ. 313 F. 3d 768 (2d
Cir. 2002), Ass n of Comm. Org. for Reform Now v. NYC Dep't of Educ, 269 F. Supp. 2d 338
(S.D.N.Y. 2003), and Almendares, No. 3:00-7524, 2002 WL 31730963 (N.D. Ohio Dec. 3, 2002)
ismisplaced. None of these cases compelsaconclusion that the Food Stamp provisionsat issuehere

are unenforceable.

As discussed earlier, Gonzaga does not preclude enforcement. See Section I(A) supra.
Taylor, whichlike Gonzaga, involvesclaimsunder the Family Educational Rightsand Privacy Act

of 1974 (“FERPA”), 20 U.S.C. § 1232g, therefore, by extension equally does not preclude Food



Stamp Act enforcement 2

City defendant’ sposition issimilarly unsupported by Community Organizations. Infact, the
holding in that case actudly supports plaintiffs’ position when applied to the provisions of the Food
Stamp Act at issuein thiscase. In Community Organizations, the Court found that certain sections
of the No Child Left Behind Act (*“NCLBA”) did nat create individual rights enforceable under 8
1983. 269 F. Supp. 2d at 344-47. The court, however, held tha a statutedoes create anenforceable
right if it “focuses on conferring a benefit or entitlement on an individual or adass of individuals
and does not focus on the entity or person that the statute intends to regulate.” 1d. at 344. As
discussed above, the Food Stamp Act hasthe kind of rightsconferring provision envisioned by this
language. The Community Organizations court found that the NCLBA wasfocused on the state and
local educational agencies and not on the children and that the NCLBA was hot concerned “with
whether the needs of any particular person have been satisfied.” 1d. at 344-45 (citing Gonzaga, at
288, 290). Incontrast, the provisions of the Food Stamp Act & issuein thiscase are concerned with
andfocusonindividual householdswhoselimitedincomeleavesthemwithout enough money to buy

the food they need for adequate nutrition.

Finally, while plaintiffsin this action believe Almendares was wrongly decided,’ the Food
Stamp Act provisionsthat plaintiffsrely on hereareeasily distinguishablefromthelimited provision
that theNorthern District of Ohio found to be unenforceableinitsunpublished decision Almendares,
2002 WL 31730963. Almendares addressed § 2020(€)(1)(B), which governs the obligation of the

State agency to hire bi-lingual personnel and use language-appropriate materials. The Almendares

® In Taylor, the Second Circuit followed Gonzaga’s reasoning in finding that a different
provision of FERPA, the records-access provision, similarly did not confer rights on parents and,
therefore, did not create an enforceable right, Taylor, 313 F.3d at 785.

® Althoughitisarguablethat Almendareswaswrongly decided because § 2020(e)(1)(B) and
its implementing regulations create concrete rights intended to benefit food stamp applicants and
recipients, this Court need not addressthisissueinholding enforceable the provision at issuein this
litigation.
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court reasoned that § 2020(e)(1)(B) has an “* aggregatefocus’ and “is not concerned with whether
the needs of any particular person has been satisfied,” and that “[t]his provision is simply intended
to ensure that the State plan of operation include provisions to deal with counties with high

populations of low income househol ds whose language is other than English.” 1d. at *5.

Unlike Almendares, this case seeks to enforce requirements that explicitly focus on the
individual household that is eligible for regular and expeditedfood stamps, and tha establish rights
that are not vague. Section 2020(e)(2)(B)(iii) directs the State agency to permit an applicant
household to apply for food stamps upon initial contact with a food stamp center; § 2020(e)(3)
provides that the State agency must providefood stamps to eligible households no later than thirty
days after application; and 8 2020(e)(9) mandates that the State agency provide expedited food
stamps to eligible low-income households within seven days of application. Rather than focusing
on the “aggregate,” these provisions unambiguously speak in terms of each individual applicant
household's right to apply for food stamps upon initial contact with a food stamp center and the

eligible household' s right to receive expedited and ongoing food stamps in atimely manner.
C. The Food Stamp Regulations Are Enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Articulating the current standard, the Eleventh Circuitin Harrisv. Jamesheld that, “ so long
asthe statute itself confers a specific right upon the plaintiff, and avalid regulation merely further
defines or fleshes out the content of that right, then the statute- in conjunction with the regulation -
may create afederal right asfurther defined by theregulation.” Harrisv. James, 127 F.3d 993, 1009
(11" Cir. 1997). TheFourth Circuit decisionin Smithv. Kirk, stated an essentially identical standard
whenit held that, “[alnadministrativeregulation . . . cannot create an enforceabl e 81983 interest not
already implicit in the enforcing statute.” Smith, 821 F.2d 980, 984 (4™ Cir. 1987).

The regulations at issue in this action clearly are enforceable by this Court because they
simply flesh out and define enforceable statutory rights that are themselves enforceable rights
through 81983. SeeReynoldslil, 118 F. Supp. 2d at 382, n.32. 7 C.F.R 8 273.2(g)(1) provides: that
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“The State agency shall provide €ligible households that complete theinitial application processan
opportunity to participate . . . as soon as possible, but no later than 30 calendar days following the
datethe application wasfiled....” 7 C.F.R. 8§ 273.2(i)(3)(I) directsthat, “[f]or households entitled
to expedited service, the State agency shall make available to the recipient couponsoran ATP card
not |ater than the seventh calender day following thedate an gpplicationwasfiled.” Finaly, 7 C.F.R.
§273.2(e)(2)(1) directsthat “ State agencies shall encourage households to file an application form
the same day the household or its representative contacts the food stamp office in person or by
telephone and expresses interest in obtaining food stamps assistance or expresses concern which
indicates food insecurity.” Each of theseregulations do nothing more than carry forward already

explicit statutory mandates.

POINT II

PLAINTIFFS HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE FOOD
STAMP APPLICATION DELAYSAT JOB CENTERS

City defendant’ s contention that plaintiffslack standing to challenge food stamp application
processing delays incurred at Job Centersis not supported by fact or law. To establish Articlelll
standing, a plaintiff must allege, and ultimately prove, that he has suffered an injury that isfairly
traceable to the challenged action of the defendant, and which is likely to be redressed by the
requested relief. Baur v. Veneman, 352 F.3d 625 (2d Cir. 2003). Here, each plaintiff has suffered
aninjury, theloss of food stamps, which isdirectly traceable to the ddfendants’ pattern and practice
of not timely processing food stamp applications. The law being violated, the Food Stamp Act
applies equally to dl offices where food stamps are processed. The injury will be remedied by the

granting of the sought after relief -- an order requiring thetimely processing of applicaions.

The argument that the named plaintiffs are applicants at Non-Public Assistancefood stamp
application sites, and therefore cannot challenge processing delays at Job Centers, (see, e.g, City

Mem. at 17-18) not only missesthe point of plaintiffs claims, but it inexplicably attemptsto elevate
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amere administrative convenience' to the status of law. Plaintiffs and the proposed plaintiff class
challenge the failure of the defendants to processfood stamp applicationsin atimely manner. The
City defendant, as Commissioner of the New York City Human Resources Administration, is
responsible inter alia (a) the overall operation and administration of the Food Stamps program
within New Y ork City, including theoperation of the Food Stamps Centers; and (b) complying with

federal and state law and regulations relating to the Food Stamps program.

City defendant seeks to evade her responsibility by artificialy sub-dividing her
administration of the food stamp program in New Y ork City in a manner not required by federal or
statelaw. Thefact that City defendant chooses, asamatter of administrative convenience, to divide
its operations so as to shunt individual s applying only for food stamps to oneset of offices while
processing applications for persons applying for food stamps along with other public assistance
programsto another set of officesisamatter of no legal consequence. Indeed, plaintiffsdo not seek
to certify aclassof food stamp applicants sufferingdel ays at Job Centersand aseparate class of food
stamp applicants suffering delays at non-Job Center sites. Rather, plaintiffs seek to certify a sub-
class of applicants defined as“[a]ll New Y ork City residents who have applied for food stampsin
New Y ork City and who have not had those applications processed within thirty days of the date of
application,” Plaintiffs Complaint,  14. Because such a definition is consistent with the Food
Stamp Act requirement that food stamps be processed within the same time frame irrespective of
wherefiled. Indeed, federal law would permit no such application differentiation based on place of
filing since even if the cash assistance application isdenied or withdrawn, the applicant can not be
required to submit anew application for food stamps. 7 U.S.C. 88 2014 (b); 2020(e)(1)(B)(i), (€)(3);
7 C.F.R.8 273.2(0)(1).

19 Asamatter of administrative convenience, City defendants accepts applicationsfor food
stamps both at offices that process applicaionsfor cash asdstance and Medicaid (Job Centers) and
at separate stand done sites for processing food stamp only goplications (“NPA Food Stamp
offices’).
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New York State law devolves to City defendant the respongbility to administer the food

stamp program inNew Y ork City. For example, New Y ork State law provides:

Each commissioner of social servicesis authorized and required, in
accordance with regulations of the department, to make application
for inclusion of his sodal services district in the federd food stamp
plan or plansand to assist needy familiesand individual s of hissocial
services district to obtain nutritionally adequate diets through
participation in such federal food stamp plan or plans

Social Services Law 8§ 95(3)(a) (emphass added). State law further requires City defendant to
“develop and submit to the department for its approva a plan describing his district's operations

under this section, which plan shall accord with federal and state requirements.” 1d. § 95(3)(c).

State Social ServicesLaw further requiresthat City defendant investigate the circumstances
of an applicant to determinethe assistance or care that the applicant requireswhenever the applicant
submits an application for assistance, 1d. § 132, and designates the City of New York asadngle
public welfaredistrict. 1d. 8 61. Each “public welfare district [is] be responsible for the assistance
and care of any person who resides orisfound initsterritory and who isin need of public assistance

and care which he is unable to provide for himself.” Id. § 62.

City defendant’ s argument, taken toits logical extreme, would requirethis Court to parse
through each individual office where applications are processed to determine whether, for example,
the Bronx office is processing applications timely this month while the Queens office is not.
Moreover, this Court has previously rejected an attempt to draw such distinctions in the context of
Medicaiddelays. InKessler v Blum, 591 F. Supp. 1013 (S.D.N.Y. 1984. Swest, J.), five New Y ork
City residents sued on behalf of astate-wide classto chdlenge delaysin processing applicationsfor
prior approval of certain Medicad services. Defendants sought tolimit the class to only residents
of New Y ork City. ThisCourt rejected the motion, eventhough none of the named plaintiffsresided
outside New Y ork City. Id. at 1033, see also Robertson v. Jackson, 766 F. Supp. 470, 473-75 (E.D.

Va. 1991)(Court found for astate-wideplaintiff class despite significart differencesinperformance
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among local offices.)

Simply stated, plaintiffs seek on behalf of a City-wide class of food stamp applicants to
compel defendantsto timely process applications irrespective of where such applications arefiled.
If this Court were to adopt defendants’ standing argument, it would provide them the very meansto
evadereliefif thisCourt findsliability. Prospectively, City defendants could simply decideto accept
food stamp applications only at Job Centers, thereby providing the plaintiff class with a hollow

victory.

Consequently, this Court ought conclude that plaintiffs have standing to represent the class
they seek to represent -- applicants for food stamps in New York City regardless of where the
application isfiled.

POINT 111

REYNOLDSv. GIULIANI DOESNOT DEPRIVE PLAINTIFFS
OF STANDING

Defendants’ argument that the complaint in this action involves clams concerning Job
Centersthat are duplicative of those pending in Reynoldsv. Giuliani, the classaction pending before
Judge Pauley in thisDistrict, iswrong. Reynoldsis a very different case; it challenged the City
defendant’s conversion of traditional welfare offices, where applications for cash assistance and

related benefits could befiled, to Job Centers. 1*

First, while this action focuses primarily on timely processing of food stamp applications
city-wide, as Judge Pauley determined, the Reynolds class focused on a very different problem. In
Reynolds, plaintiffsasserted, as part of theprocessof converting welfare centersto Job Centers, that

defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of

providing applicants with false and misleading information in an

A copy of the Reynolds complaint is annexed to State defendant’ s moving papers.
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effort to prunethe welfarerolls. Plaintiffs further allege that the City
defendantsare impermissibly raisingimpedimentsto applications by
needy individuals for food stamps, Medicaid and cash assistance.

Reynolds I, 35 F. Supp. 2d at 336. In essence, as observed by Judge Pauley, Reynolds centered
around a set of policiesand practicesthat arose from the conversion of the City defendant’ swelfare
officesto “Job Centers’ and the City’ s desire to deter persons from applying for assistance at Job
Centers. Consequently, the Court issued relief that focused on the right of applicantsat Job Centers
to file applications and to receive, where eligible, expedited service. Specifically, Judge Pauley

ordered relief, exclusively covering Job centers, that, inter alia, directed the City defendants to:

1. adlow plaintiffs and al persons applying for food stamps,
Medicaid and cash assistance, including expedited food stamps and
temporary pre-investigation grants to apply for such benefits on the
first day that they visit a Job Center;

2. processall applications for expedited food stamps and temporary
pre-investigation grants at Job Centers within the time frames
required by law.

Reynolds 11, 118 F. Supp. 2d at 358.

Only one claim in Williston concerns defendants' conduct a& Job Centers, failure to timely
process applications for ongoing food stamps, and that claim was not implicated by the Job center
conversion process® and this claim does not duplicate the claims in Reynolds. The Reynolds
complaint contains twelve causes of action, but not a single one allegesdelays inthe processing of
food stamp applications at Job Centers. Rather, the first claim alleges a practice of discouraging

persons from applying. The second cause of action also concerns discouraging persons from filing

12 The remaining claimsfocus sold y on N PA sitesand thusare not impli cated by Reynolds.
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food stamp applications. The third cause of action addresses the failure to comply with 7 U.S.C. §
2014(b), which prohibits defendants from denying a food stamp application if the cash assistance
application is withdrawn or denied. The fourth claim revolves around defendants' actions taken
whenthefood stamp applicationiswithdrawn. Theremainder of the claimsinvolvenon-food stamp
application processing delayissues. No cause of action concemsthetimely processing of food stamp

applications at Job Centers where expedited service is not required.

Totheextent that theReynoldscomplaint’ s“whereforeclause” containslanguage addressing
timely processing, that language, as made clear from the complaintinitstotality, concansthefront-
end process of permitting personsto submit the application on thefirst day they seek assistance and
to provide expedited food stamp service to eligible applicants. Indeed, paragraphs 84 through 89
describe the “delay” in processing applications. These paragraphs make clear that the delay
concerned the ability to have the application accepted for processing and not the overall time taken

in processing the application.

Moreover, areading of thethree Reynol dsdecisionsmakesclear that the partiesand the court
were concerned only with violations of law that arose during the period from the time the plaintiffs
sought to filean application, through theinitial processing phasewhen applicationswerewithdrawn
or modified, emergency benefitsissued or denied, and concomitant noticesissued. See Reynoldsl,
35 F. Supp. 2d at 331: Reynolds|l, 43 F. Supp. 2d at 492; Reynolds 111, 118 F. Supp. 2d at 352.
Indeed, the audit conducted by City defendant of their own performanceindicatesthat even she did

not believe that food stamp application processing delays were implicit a part of Reynolds.

As Judge Pauley carefully noted:
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After drawing the sample, the City utilized anew audit instrument to
review the sampled case files and measure performance in the
following areas. ‘(@) providing immediate needs cash assistance
whereappropriate; (b) providing expedited food stamp servicewhere
appropriate; (c) timely providing immediate needs and expedited food
stamps; and (d) making separate determinations or referrals for food
stamps or Medicaid where cash assistance was denied or the
application waswithdrawn.” ... Additionally, theinstrument sought
to determine whether a notice of benefit determination wasissued to
an applicant.

Reynolds |11 at 364. In contrast, plaintiffs in this action seek an order finding that “ Defendants
policiesand practices of failing to provide ongoing food stampsto eligible individuals and families
within thirty days of the date of applicaion violates 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(3) and 7 C.F.R. §

273.2(8)(2), (9)(1).” See Complaint, First Claim Against Defendants.

Accordingly, defendants’ argument that this action duplicates any portion of Reynolds is

wrong.
POINT IV
PLAINTIFFSSTATE CLAIMSAGAINST STATE DEFENDANT

State defendant misapprehends plaintiffs claims. First, contrary to State defendant’s
assertion (See State Mem. at 13), plaintiffs have no duty to seek State administrative review. Both
the Supreme Court and the Second Circuit have repeatedly held that exhaustion of administrative
remediesisnot required for claims asserted pursuant to 8 1983. Patsy v. Board of Regents 457 U.S.
496, 516 (1982); DeSario v. Thomas, 139 F.3d 80, 85-86 (2d Cir. 1998); Wilbur v. Harris, 53 F.3d
542, 544 (2d Cir. 1995). InWilbur, for example, the Second Circuit observed: “As the Supreme
Court has clearly held, the 'exhaustion of state administrative remedies should not be required as a
prerequisite to bringing an action pursuant to Sec. 1983.” 53 F.3d at 544 (quoti ng Patsy, 457 U.S.
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at 516). In DeSario, the Court charecterized Patsy' s holding as a “categorical datement that
exhaustionisnot required” and asareflection of an“expansive view of thefederal rolein protecting
constitutional rights.” Desario, 139 F.3d at 86. Seealso ReynoldslI1 at 383-84, in which the Court

observed:

As discussed in the preceding section, the complaint asserts viable
claims against the State defendants under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for
violations of federal law. This Court has already observed that
exhaustion of administrativeremediesisnot required for suchdaims
under Section 1983. See Reynolds|, 35 F. Supp. 2d at 341 n.9 (citing
Wilbur v. Harris, 53 F.3d 542, 544 (2d Cir. 1995); Jose P. v. Ambach,
669 F.2d 865 (2d Cir. 1982)); seeal so Patsy v. Board of Regents, 457
U.S. 496, 516, 102 S. Ct. 2557, 2568, 73 L. Ed. 2d 172 (1982)
("exhaustion of state administrative remedies should not berequired
asaprerequisitetobringing an action pursuant to 88 1983"); DeSario
v. Thomas, 139 F.3d 80, 85-86 (2d Cir. 1998), vacated and remanded
on other groundsby Sekisv. Thomas, 525 U.S. 1098, 119 S. Ct. 864,
142 L. Ed. 2d 767 (1999) (same); Roberson, 2000 WL 760300, at * 11
(Although both the Food Stamp Act and Medicaid statute require
States to provide for administrative hearings when requested by
recipients, the State defendants fail to point out any indication of
congressional intent to require exhaustion of such remedies prior to
brining a Section 1983 action.”)

Contrary to the State's defendant’s contention, the Food Stamp Act does not require
administrative exhaustion. Asthe First Circuit held in Commonwealth of Mass. v. Lyng, 893 F.2d
424, 427 (1st Cir. 1990), “the scheme of the food stamp statute does not require exhaustion.” Nor
do the statutes and regulations on which the State defendant relies impose any such requirement.
To be sure, 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(10) requires the State to provide a fair hearing to households
aggrieved by actions of the State agency, but nowhere doesthat statute require or discuss exhaustion

of the fair hearing option as a condition of enforcing the Food Stamp Act.

Moreover, the State defendant’ sduty to supervisethe City defendant isnot dependent on the
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plaintiffs’ choice to utilize the administrative review process. AsReynolds Il noted,

The State defendantscontend that one primary way in whichthe State
implements the Food Stamp and Medicaid Acts is by providing
applicantsand recipientswith theright to administrativefair hearings
to redress their grievances with local agency actions. The State
defendants argue that the majority of plaintiffs have failed to avail
themselves of the fair hearing process, and therefore cannot alege
that the State defendants failed to supervise.

The Court rejects this argument. As discussed above, plaintiffs are
not required to exhaud their administrative remedies. Additi onally,
the State defendants have an independent duty to investigate the City
defendants’ performance and act in an ongoing oversight capecity to
ensure their compliance with federal mandates separate and apart
from the fair hearing process.

Reynolds 111, 118 F. Supp. 2d at 386.

Second, just as plaintiffs need not exhaust their administrative remediesto state aclaim, the
Statedefendant isnot relieved fromits duty simply because the plaintiff, asdid Ms. Williston, seeks
afair hearing. 7 U.S.C. § 2012(n) definesthe single stateagency charged with theresponsibility for
administering the Food Stamp Act as “the agency of the State government . . . which has the
responsibility for the administration of the federally aided public assistance programs within the
state” aswell asthelocal agencies. The State must submit for approval aplan to the Department of
Agriculture “ specifying the manner inwhich [the Food Stamp program] will be conducted within

the State in every political subdivision.” 7 U.S.C. § 2020(d)(emphasis added).

A simplereview of the provisions pertaining to plaintiffs’ claims demonstrates a clear and
continuing Congressional mandate that the state not merely administer but take direct action to

ensurethat needy, hungry indvidualsand familiesreceivethe meansto eat. It isthe statesthat must
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provideapplications, processthose applicationsin atimelyfashion, andissue expedited food stamps
to eligible households. Read individually, each of the sections of the Food Stamp Act at issue, was
clearly intended to carry out the purpose of the Act - to havethe state meet the needs of desperate

people such as plantiffs.

For example, under the Food Stamp Act, each state must “ permit an applicant household to
apply to participate . . . on the same day that the household first contacts some food stamps office
in person during office hours.” 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(2)(B)(iii). The Food Stamp Act also requires
that, once the application has been filed, the state must “ promptly determine the eligibility of each
applicant household by way of verification of income, . . . household size,” and other factors. Id. at
§ 2020(e)(3). Moreover, the Food Stamp Act imposes on each state a duty to “provide each
applicant household, at the time of application, a clear written statement explaining what acts the
household must perform to cooperate in obtaining verification and otherwise completing the
verification process.” Id. Finally, the Food Stamp Act contains an unequivocal statutory mandate
that the state provide Food Stamps to certain needy households on an expedited basis. Id. at §
2020(e)(9). See also Gonzalezv. Pingree, 821 F.2d 1526, 1528 (11th Cir. 1987) (“Title 7 U.S.C.
§2020(e)(9) speaksinimperative, not merely permissive, termsmandating that state agencies’ shall
.. . provide coupons no later than five days after the date of application’ to destitute applicants.”)
As discussed below, each of the above requirements expressly applies to the State, each is fully
enforceableunder 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and plantiffs have a separate privateright of action to enforce

these Food Stamp Act protections.

Moreover, implementing regulations elucidate those statutory requirements by imposing a
strict duty on State defendant to supervisethe acts or failuresto act of City defendant. For example,
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7 C.F.R. 8 275.5(a) providesthat “[e]ach Stateagency shall ensurethat [local districts] operate the
Food Stamp Program in accordance with the Act, regulations, and FNS-approved State Plan of
Operation.” The same regulation requires State defendant to conduct periodic reviews of City
defendant performance so asto provide “ asystematic method of monitoring and assessing program
operations’ andto provide“abasisfor [local districts] toimproveand strengthen program operations
by identifying and correcting deficiencies.” 1d. 8 275.5(a)(1) and (2). Thefurther goal of thereviews
isto provide “a continuing flow of information between the [locd districtg], the States, and FNS,
necessary to develop the solutions to problems in program policies and procedures.” 1d. §

275.5(8)(3).

In addition, under the regulations, State defendant must engage in a regular program of
“correctiveaction planning” by which heisto determine* appropriate actionsto reducesubstantially
or eliminate deficiencies in program operations and provide responsive services to eligble
households.” 7 C.F.R. § 275.16(a)(emphasis added). Food Stamp regu ations further mandate that
the “ State agency shall ensure that corrective action plans are prepared at the project area [local
district] level ... The project arealmanagement unit corrective action plansshall be open-endedand
shall remain in effect until all deficiencies inprogram operdions have been reduced substantidly

or eliminated.” 1d. at § 275.18(a).

The extent to which the Food Stamp Act and implementing regul ations place the burden of
supervision sguarely on the State defendant is further underscored by 7 C.F.R. § 275.19(a), which

provides:

The State agency shall establish a system for monitoring and
evaluating corrective adion at the State and project area levels.
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Monitoring and evaluation shall be an ongoing process to determine
that deficienciesaresubstantially reduced or eliminated in an efficient
manner and that the program provides responsive service to eligible
households. (emphasis added.)

The Food Stamp Act and implementing regulations, whether reviewed singly or in the
aggregate, impose an enforceable duty on State defendant to supervise City defendants
administration of the Food Stamp program in New York City. First, the statute and regulations
plaintiffs seek to enforce expressly benefit the plaintiffs. For example, the statute and regulations
speak in terms of ensuring that “the program provide responsive service to eligible households,” 7
C.F.R. 8 275.19(a), and correcting deficiencies in program operations Id. at 88 275.5(a) &

275.16(3).

Second, the language of the regulationsis mandatory and not precatory. In carefully parsed
terms, the regulations direct State defendant to monitor, evaluate, and take corrective action to
addressfailureson the part of thelocal district. Theregulationsarefully consistent with theexpress
mandate of the Food Stamp Act, the elimination of hunger by the provision of food couponsto needy

households.

Here, the State defendant has more than a passive duty to issue adecision after fair hearing.
Rather, asthe singl e state agency charged with administering the food stamp program, it hasthe duty

to ensure that plantiffs timely received their food stamps.
POINT V
PLAINTIFFS CLAIMSARE NOT MOOT

State defendant’ scontention that theplaintiffs’ claimsaremoot and, therefore, the complaint
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must be dismissed are factually and legally wrong. First, assuming arguendo that Ms. Williston
received her food stamps on June 23, 2004, that is five days after the motion for dass certification
was filed and seven days after the filing of the complaint was filed. As the Second Circuit has

observed:

the fact that the plaintiffs received their unlawfully delayed benefits
after thelawsuit was commenced did not mean that the action thereby
became moot. Where class claims are inherently transitory, ‘the
termination of aclassrepresentative'sclam doesnot moot the claims
of the unnamed members of the class.” Even where the classis not
certified until after the claims of the individual class representatives
have becomemoot, certification may be deemed torelate back to the
filing of the complaint in order to avoid mooting the entire
controversy.

Robidoux v. Celani, 987 F.2d 931 (2™ Cir. 1993)(emphasis added.) See also Comer v. Cisneros, 37

F.3d 775, 790 (2™ Cir.1994).

The Cummins' claims are not moot since they are seeking food stamps for the period from
October 2003 through January 2004. Accordingly, they are still entitled to an order requiring City
defendant to process her their application effective October 2003. AsReynolds|1I noted, thisclaim
“isfor injunctiverelief, not for retroactive money damages.” 118 F. Supp. 2d at 292. Consequently,

the Cummins family may seek thisrelief from both defendants and their claims are not moot.
POINT VI
PLAINTIFFSSEEK RELIEF AVAILABLE UNDER EX PARTE YOUNG

State defendant’ sargument that plaintiffsrequestsfor declaratory relief seeks* retrospective
relief” barred by the Eleventh Amendment is clearly wrong. (State Mem. at 9) In cases wherethe

plaintiffs alege an ongoing violation of federal law, prospective relief may take the form of
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declaratory aswell asinjunctiverelief. A declaration for past wrongs may be gopropriate, sincesuch
relief does not seek to impose amonetary |oss upon the state for past conduct. Therefore, ‘[i]nsofar
asthe exposure of the State is concerned, the prayer for declaratory relief adds nothing to the prayer
for injunction.”” Aiken v. Nixon, 236 F. Supp. 2d 211, 227-8 (N.D.N.Y. 2002), quoting Verizon
Maryland, Inc. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of Md., 535 U.S. 635, 646 (2002). Statedefendant’ scitation
to Green v. Mansour is inapposite. The Green Court specificaly premised its holding that the
Eleventh Amendment barred declaratory relief on thelack of any allegation of continuing violation
of federal law. Green v. Mansour, 474 U.S. 64, 73 (1985) (“Wethink that these casesdemonstrate
theimpropriety of theissuance of adeclaratoryjudgment inthiscase. Thereisno claimed continuing
violation of federal law, and therefore no occasion to issue an injunction.”). Here, plaintiffsclaim
ongoing violation of federal law, rendering their declaratory rdief request permissible under the

Eleventh Amendment.*®
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, plaintiffs request that defendants motions be denied in their

entirety.

Dated: New York, New York
September 30, 2004

13 Puerto Rico Aqueduct v. Metcalf, 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993), also cited by State
Defendant, did not involve or analyze any Eleventh Amendment issues. Instead, it merely quoted
Greeninthe course of discussing whether an order concerning an Eleventh Amendment claimisan
immediately appealable collateral order.
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